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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72% of the issued shares of the Company.



8%

CONTENTS
=1/
Page
REIER 2
Corporate Information
& 5
Definitions
EBE 10
Business Overview
I ENGNEEEE 14
Significant Events Since 2021
MBEE 18
Financial Highlights
FERS 19
Chairman’s Statement
BIEEsm O 34
Management Discussion and Analysis
BRIERHEEERS 64
Environmental and Social Responsibility Report
BEEREREEABRERE 123
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EERRE 137
Report of the Directors
PEERRS 160
Corporate Governance Report
B ZBEN RS 193
Independent Auditor's Report
e mElER 200
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
IREMBIRRR 201
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AR 203
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREMRER 204
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RE M IRRMEE 207
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S E 320

Financial Summary

T —FER
Annual Report 2021



oEEH

CORPORATE INFORMATION
EHITES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
&N (FE) LI Fuli (Chairman)
K ZHU Ping
FRER1Z CHEN Kangren
mER YANG Changyi
HITES EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
SO AL (A %) JI Youhong (Chief Executive Officer)
BIIEBITES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
EEE IP Shu Kwan Stephen
a8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham
B2 ZENG Xuemin
ME = LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
NEIME COMPANY SECRETARY
#EN LO Chi Lik Peter
BEREKGELZE Y STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
=@&H (F/E) LI Fuli (Chairman)
B s ZENG Xuemin
K ZHU Ping
FREE1Z CHEN Kangren
R YANG Changyi
LRA JI Youhong
RLEEYE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
=@&H (FE) LI Fuli (Chairman)
EE IP Shu Kwan Stephen
ap ] SHEK Lai Him Abraham
ME = LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
K ZHU Ping

2 EMACRERERAT o

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



ARER
CORPORATE INFORMATION

HNEE%ERT

R (2R
Rk
B
HiE
iR

BZEET

WEE (2/5)
s
A
L

HRR

REREREESS

B (£/E)
A
MEE

R

FREE1Z

¥8 3L % BB

X GEHEMEHPR

FEFERIRTT

PEREIRTRNABRAF
hEIERTT (BB BRAR
PEERITRNDABRAE
PERITROBRAE
PEZRIRTRNABRAT
BERTRNBRAR
ERBRITARRDEEDT
BERITARAT

RE TRsiRTT (SW) BIRAR
PETERTROARAR
EERITRMNABRAT
ImiRIR1T
EB/IRTAERATDETEDTT
EEAREREBTRMABMRAE

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

SHEK Lai Him Abraham (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan Stephen

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

LI Fuli

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan Stephen

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

ZENG Xuemin

YANG Changyi

RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)
SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHU Ping

CHEN Kangren

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR”

“associated corporation”

“associate(s)”

“Board”

“Changjiang”

“China Resources Group”

“Chinese Mainland”

“Chongging”

“CG Code”

“Company”

“CR Assets”

“CR Digital Group”

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the SFO

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules

board of Directors
Changjiang Li Autonomous County, Hainan

CR Holdings, CRI and their respective
subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao
SAR

Chongging Municipality, China

Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
China Resources Assets Management Co.,
Ltd., a company incorporated in PRC with

limited liability, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of CRI

China Resources Digital Holdings Limited,
its associates, its joint ventures and
associates without controlling shareholding

T —FER 5
Annual Report 2021



DEFINITIONS

M8 (@) 15

MERHEMER) 15

MEEHEHER) 15

MERHACRKRE) 15

ERRG) i

MEHER (KR)IE

BRAB
== e
FEHS 1§
HE 1Al e

MR tERk I8

P
==l

EH(EE ARAR>
— RN EBEMILAY
BRAF LREAF
ARSI IR A E]

EHEMARAGH
B AR REIFERE
BT EKERNETER

ol

EREHNERBERER
5~ HW B A5 ke H B

Ol

i1

]

EHKEREBRA
8] 0 — 7 A B & AR
INBREERE I
BERNTNZEHRBA
=

EMRGHERAF —
R RE A 0
RAT i A5 EE)
BIRS EERR A )

EHER OKE) BR
RE —RNEBRY
BESEMAZNARR
8 W RAEATNERE
ERAE

EAYNSTE £

BRI -BERZE

MR RBREE

RIE-HERER

BETEEKRE 5 BTBEERE
6 ENRERERAT

“CR Holdings”

“CR Land Group”

“CR Power Group”

“CRC Investments”

“CRJ”

“CRH (Cement) Limited”

”

“Director(s)

“EHS”

“Epidemic”

“ESG”

“EAJ

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company

China Resources Land Limited, its
subsidiaries and its joint ventures without
controlling shareholding but with dominant
operating rights

China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, its subsidiaries and its
associates

China Resources Cement Investments
Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in China, the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiary

China Resources Inc., a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

CRH (Cement) Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability, the Company’s
immediate holding company

director(s) of the Company

environment, health and safety

COVID-19 epidemic

environmental, social and governance

fixed asset investments
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“Fujian”

“GDP”

“Greater Bay Area”

“Group”

“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

“Guizhou”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Hunan”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

“PRC” or “China”

“R&D"

“Runfeng New Materials”

Fujian Province, China
gross domestic products

Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China
Guangxi Zhuang AR

Guizhou Province, China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong SAR

Hunan Province, China

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

research and development

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials
Technology Company Limited, a limited

liability company incorporated in China,
the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary
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DEFINITIONS

MERITEE) 15 HPESITHE “SAR” Special Administrative Region, PRC

BEKREE 18 BFBEEMAEL/IEFS  “SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter

G K HAE 155 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

IR & FEPRFEE “Shaanxi” Shaanxi Province, China

kN ¥ PELAR “Shanxi” Shanxi Province, China

TRZ1% 1§ ARBRAFEREE  “Share(s)” share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
0.108 T D capital of the Company

MR e 2ER 1§ BREER B -®\EK  “Southern China” encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
Pt and Hainan

B3PI 5 BEEABAEXZFIAMRA  “Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
=

MRTRACH | 5 HEIRIREKHEITAME  “Universal Classical” DongGuan Universal Classical Material
BERAZ  —FKKRAEH Ltd., a limited liability company
AMRINEREEA incorporated in China, the Company’s non-
B mARANBNIESR wholly owned subsidiary
BB AT

NRIXEM] 8 IRIREGM (B5E) BRI “Universal Marble” Universal Marble & Granite (Dongguan)
BRAT  —KIPRFE Co., Ltd., a joint stock company
MR ZNRNDERA incorporated in PRC with limited liability,
8]0 i A AR B B E the Company’s associate
NS

MERg I THEEFZS “Yunnan” Yunnan Province, China

CATT & FEITIZ “Zhejiang” Zhejiang Province, China

7T, 8 B BELTEE “HK$” Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of

Hong Kong
TAR] 6 ARMKT EEEE “RMB” Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of

EHICRIERBRAE]
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China



DEFINITIONS

=7t

M% ]

% |

M+

I+ FFF

M7 75 K]

BT

=y

“US$”

“

o

“%0”

“Keal”

“

”

kg

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent

per mille
kilocalorie
kilogram
kilometer
kilowatt-hour
cubic meter
square meter

milligram
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is a large-scale and
competitive cement, clinker and concrete producer in Southern China.
The Group’s operations mainly range from the excavation of limestone
to the production, sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete.
Products are mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi through well-established waterway, railway
and road logistics networks. The Group’s products are primarily used in
the construction of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways,
subways, bridges, airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power stations and
nuclear power stations, as well as the construction of high-rise buildings
and development of suburban and rural areas.

As 31 December 2021, the Group had 97 cement grinding lines and 46
clinker production lines in operation, with annual production capacity of
85.3 million tons of cement and 62.7 million tons of clinker respectively,
as well as 62 concrete batching plants with annual production capacity of
37.3 million m? of concrete. The locations of our production facilities and
their respective production capacities are as follows:

KR i REL

Cement Clinker Concrete
#1%/BBE&,/  Province/AR/ TEREE BEM SELGHE BEE BHUEHE B3UAK
HAfTHE SAR No.of lines  miliontons ~ No.oflines  milliontons ~ No. of plants million m?
ER Guangdong 24 225 10 144 22 14.1
Ef Guangxi 37 332 18 26.5 28 16.7
BE Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 = =
=1 Hainan 5 44 3 33 5 2.7
EE Yunnan 7 5.1 4 39 1 0.6
M Guizhou 4 40 2 30 = =
78 Shanxi 6 6.0 3 46 1 0.6
yiipa Zhejiang = = = = 2 1.1
58 Hong Kong = = = = 3 15
4ast Total 97 853 46 62.7 62 373

FERORERABRAT
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In addition, through our equity interests of certain associates and joint
ventures, the Group owned a total of 79 cement grinding lines, 30 clinker
production lines and 20 concrete batching plants with total annual
production capacities of 66.4 million tons of cement, 37.0 million tons of
clinker and 9.5 million m® of concrete. These production capacities are
located in Guangdong, Hong Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia.
The respective annual production capacities attributable to the Group
according to our equity interests of these associates and joint ventures
were 22.4 million tons of cement, 12.1 million tons of clinker and 4.5
million m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility
and actively promotes production safety, energy saving and emission
reduction. The Group also actively launches projects of co-processing
municipal solid waste, urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste
by use of cement kilns. All cement production plants of the Group
are equipped with residual heat recovery generators to reduce energy
consumption. Our emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides, particulate
matters and sulphur dioxide are better than the national standard
limits of pollutant emissions. In addition, in order to promote corporate
transformation, innovation and sustainable development, the Group
actively strengthens the research, development and application of
new products, new materials and new technologies, as well as seizes
development opportunities of new businesses to fully leverage the positive
synergies between different businesses.
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AN EBACRMELR AR A ELE RS T  Our principal cement grinding lines, clinker production lines, concrete
EHIE BRIEE RERNEEBEMMNLT  batching plants, aggregates projects and prefabricated construction
HEh projects are situated at the following locations:
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m )| Fuchuan #BE Heqing
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@ JX7E Yongding Z|I& Anshun
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. & KR - k4 EE M Cement and clinker production plants operated by the Group
o E&5T Lianjiang e &% Guigang

e 158 Fengkai 0 EH'E Wuxuan

e ZETE Luoding e 478 Hepu

o 3% Yangchun o F%)11 Luchuan

e N Huizhou @ 7 Pingnan

066006

@ JEF Zhangping 74 Changzhi

LEMREEEEBNKE - k£ ZEE# Cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects

. B & Operated by the Group

M Tianyang o 4T 7Kk37] Hongshuihe
8 Shangsi e &1 Changjiang

(1]
(2]
e 35 Nanning e BEEEA Longyan Yanshi
[ |
[ 1]

B & KR EE4E Cement grinding lines operated by the Group

LA Shantou
n [ 7% Fangchenggang

18 BT Zhanjiang
E 55t Dongguan

O B’ & 8/A 5] Associates and joint ventures

3HE Midu
koK Zhushui

LR Yuebao

Bl Fengging

@O

SR Quanzhou

E A 5L Wuzhishan
E E ##3T Lianjiang

#3771 Jinjiang

MERSEATHERNNKE « Bukl4EE M Cement and clinker production plants owned by associates and joint ventures

O =&EGR Yunnan Cement O #EEGR Fujian Cement

&

O

EFZKE Yunnan Cement [ %&&5CE Fujian Cement

BRI
Concrete batching plants operated by the Group

BHRIIEE Aggregates projects

A B & Operated by the Group

A HFE* Fengkai

A ® [ Deqing

A HF% Tianyang

A E&* Shangsi

A B E Shangsi Pingguang

*323& 7 Under construction

A % Nanning
A #& 1 Hengzhou
A EHE* Wuxuan
A 3 Wuping
& " Nanping

#EFE N 2 ITH Prefabricated construction projects

6 ;1P Jiangmen

0 B5" Dongguan

0 751 Zhanjiang
0 #158 Fengkai

"Bt /A B Associates

O =FACR Mengxi Cement

BREEATERIMKEEEL Cement grinding lines owned by associates and joint ventures

[ #7408 Mengxi Cement

W HERSEATEANERTEN

Concrete batching plants owned by associates and joint ventures

A Hi K &%/ 8] Associates and joint ventures

A 15 & Tunchang A /)11 Tongchuan
ﬁ E % Ding'an A &7 Luonan
A 1L Weishan

A £5TA12 Qijiang Shihao

A EUT 242 Qijiang Anwen

o B Baise
o FE 2 Nanning

0 &7 Guigang
0 TEZ Dingan
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2021
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

EVENT

The Group acquired approximately 58.8% equity
interests of DongGuan Universal Classical Material
Ltd. Together with our equity interests in the associate
Universal Marble & Granite (Dongguan) Co., Ltd.,
approximately 75.3% of equity interests of DongGuan
Universal Classical Material Ltd. is attributable to the
Group in aggregate.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for construction in Gejie Mountain
Mining Concession, Wuxuan County, Guangxi, with
resource reserve of approximately 208.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 6.5 million tons.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for construction stones in Majiao
Mountain Mining Concession, Nanning City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 153.8 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 9.8 million tons.

The Group acquired 100% equity interests of Ding’an
Runfeng Intelligent Building Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Dingan New Century Construction Industry
Co., Ltd.) through bidding for a consideration of
RMB192,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$232,093,000). The company owns a
prefabricated construction project in Ding'an County,
Hainan, covering an area of approximately 153,000
m? and with design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components of approximately
300,000 m?.

The Group acquired 95% equity interests of
Shaanxi Xinhuada Building Materials Co., Ltd. The
company owns the mining rights of sand (granite)
for construction in Shagou, Sanyao Town, Luonan
County, Shangluo City, Shaanxi, with resource reserve
of approximately 122.0 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 3.0
million tons.
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DATE

October 2021

October 2021

October 2021

October 2021

November 2021

EVENT

The Group acquired 56% equity interests and loans
of Zhaoging Runsheng Quarry Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Zhaoging Jiaotou Taisheng Quarry
Co., Ltd.). The company owns the mining rights
of a granite quarry for construction in Dalingtou
Mining Concession, Jiushi Town, Deging County,
Zhaoging City, Guangdong, with resource reserve of
approximately 169.0 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 6.5 million tons.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of second
limestone quarry for flux in Nali Station, Pingguang
Forest, Shangsi County, Fangchenggang City,
Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately 42.0
million tons and planned annual production capacity
of approximately 2.0 million tons.

The Group invested in 70% equity interests of Deging
Yinggi Building Materials Co., Ltd. The company owns
one production line for white cement in operation with
annual production capacity of approximately 400,000
tons in Deging County, Zhaoging City, Guangdong.

The Group commenced operation of two tile adhesive
production lines with total planned annual production
capacities of approximately 400,000 tons in Fengkai
County, Guangdong.

The Group acquired 50% equity interests of Nanning
Kaixin New Material Co., Ltd. through bidding for a
consideration of RMB120,078,500 (equivalent to
approximately HK$147,016,000). The company owns
the mining rights of a granite quarry for construction
stones in Shilonglu Mining Concession, Hengzhou
City (formerly known as Heng County), Nanning
City, Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately
180.0 million tons and planned annual production
capacity of approximately 10.0 million tons.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

November 2021

December 2021

December 2021

January 2022

EVENT

The Group jointly formed Tongchuan Runxin New
Material Co., Ltd. with Tongchuan Huinengxin Energy
Co., Ltd., and increased our shareholding to 99%
in December 2021. The company owns the mining
rights of a limestone quarry for construction stones in
Shangdian, Yintai District, Tongchuan City, Shaanxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 147.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 5.0 million tons.

Haiken Runfeng (Tunchang) New Environmental
Protection Building Materials Co., Ltd., the Company’s
associate, won the bid for the mining rights of a
granite quarry for construction in the eastern section
of Dayueling Mining Concession, Zhongjian Farm,
Tunchang County, Hainan, with resource reserve of
approximately 120.0 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 6.0 million tons.

Chongging Nengtou Rungi New Material Co., Ltd., the
Company’s joint venture, won the bid for the mining
rights of limestone quarries for construction stones in
Wanjia Dam, Magou Village, Anwen Town and Zaoni
Village, Shihao Town, Qijiang District, Chongging City,
with resource reserves of approximately 70.3 million
tons and 20.7 million tons respectively and each with
planned annual production capacity of approximately
3.0 million tons respectively.

The Group invested in 49% equity interests of
Nanping Gaojian Building Materials Co., Ltd. through
subscription of increased registered capital. The
company owns the mining rights of a tuff quarry
(manufactured sand) for construction in Jingke
Mining Concession, Masha Town, Jianyang District,
Nanping City, Fujian, with resource reserve of
approximately 13.25 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 1.5 million tons.
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DATE

January 2022

March 2022

March 2022

EVENT

The Group acquired 51% equity interests of Hunan
Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd. The company has annual
production capacities of approximately 1.6 million
tons of clinker and approximately 2.0 million tons of
cement in Chenzhou City, Hunan.

The Group acquired 75% equity interests of
Guangdong Borrego New Material Technology Co.,
Ltd. The company has four production lines for
engineered stones in operation in Lianzhou City,
Guangdong, with total planned annual production
capacities of approximately 6.0 million m?.

The Group sold 72% equity interests and loans of
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited to
Tangshan Jidong Cement Co., Ltd. through tendering
for a total consideration (excluding interests) of
RMB1,607,251,200 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,965,813,000).

B —FEFER
Annual Report 2021

17



G

—=

MFBIEE
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
T T
2021 2020 2019
HEE (FEAT Turnover (HK$ million) 43,962.7 40,0869 38955.6
KRR EREBETER EBITDA (HK$ million)
AR (B8ET) 12,367.5 13,606.5 14,0405
FERA EEAT) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 7,724.6 9,029.6 8,694.4
AAEER NELRT] Profit attributable to owners of the Company
(58AT (HK$ million) 7,767.4 89599 86175
SRELXRF (B Basic earnings per share (HK$) 1.112 1.283 1.234
RIBEZ-F RKRIZ"2F RIZ-NE
+ZA=+—-B +ZA=+—-H +-A=+—H
As at As at As at
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
BERE (EEED Total assets (HK$ million) 79,149.2 68,5325 61,1709
ANEHE NEGER Equity attributable to owners of the Company
B8%ET (HK$ million) 54,856.0 49,626.8 41979.7
TR (BEBT Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 785.3 397.0 286.5
BEXE (1) Gearing ratio (note 1) 19.0% 13.8% 189%
SREEFE-RE (B Net assets per share — book (HK$) (note 2)
(#H2) 7.86 7.11 6.01
&t notes:
1. EEXLMUIRITER REMBESNERNRERE 1 Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings, loans from related
AR ARER U AR B R ARt E o parties and unsecured medium term notes by equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
2. Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of
the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.

BREEFE-RENDUETRATDERE ABGED
BRUFERBNERTROHBENE
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FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$43,962.7 million, representing an increase of 9.7%
over that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
HK$7,767.4 million, representing a decrease of 13.3% over that of last
year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$1.112.

DIVIDENDS

On Friday, 13 August 2021, the Board declared an interim dividend of
HK$0.24 per Share in cash for 2021 (2020: HK$0.275 per Share) which
was paid on Thursday, 21 October 2021. On Friday, 18 March 2022, the
Board resolved to recommend the payment of final dividend of HK$0.28
per Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$0.34
per Share). Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed
on or about Tuesday, 26 July 2022 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 13
June 2022. The total distribution for the year ended 31 December 2021
will be HK$0.52 per Share (2020: HK$0.615 per Share).

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in HK$ by
default. Shareholders may also elect to receive the final dividend in RMB.
Procedures for electing to receive the final dividend in RMB are set out in
the dividend section of the Report of the Directors.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2021, in the face of multiple challenges such as the complex and
difficult international environment and domestic Epidemic, the Chinese
economy continued to recover and grow, and achieved a promising
beginning to the “Fourteenth Five-Year”. According to the statistics
published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2021, the GDP
of China grew by 8.1% year-on-year to RMB114.4 trillion, and national FAI
(excluding rural households) increased by 4.9% year-on-year to RMB54.5
trillion.

T —FFR
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According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2021, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi, where the Group has business operations,
reached RMB12.4 trillion, RMB2.5 trillion, RMB4.9 trillion, RMB648.0
billion, RMB2.7 trillion, RMB2.0 trillion and RMBZ2.3 trillion respectively,
representing year-on-year increases of 8.0%, 7.5%, 8.0%, 11.2%, 7.3%,
8.1% and 9.1% respectively. In 2021, the year-on-year changes in FAI
of the aforementioned provinces were 6.3%, 7.6%, 6.0%, 10.2%, 4.0%,
-3.1% and 8.7% respectively.

In 2021, affected by factors such as the Epidemic and rising commodity
prices, China’s infrastructure investment growth had slowed down.
According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2021, national infrastructure investments (excluding the
industries for production and supply of electricity, heat, gas and water)
increased by 0.4% year-on-year. According to the statistics published by
the Ministry of Transport of China and the National Railway Administration
of China, FAI on highways and waterways in China from January to
November in 2021 amounted to approximately RMB2.5 frillion in total,
representing an increase of 5.7% year-on-year. In 2021, FAI on railways
amounted to approximately RMB748.9 hillion, representing a decrease
of 4.2% year-on-year, which narrowed from the year-on-year decrease of
8.3% in the first half of the year. While committed to controlling the risks
of local government debts and curbing the increase of implicit debts, the
Chinese government required for the moderately advanced launch of
infrastructure construction. Since the second half of 2021, the Chinese
government had accelerated the issuance of local government special
bonds and strengthened the support in fiscal, monetary and investment
policies, which was conducive to expanding effective investments.

During the year, the Chinese government persisted in maintaining the
position that “residential properties are not for speculation”, focused on
stabilizing land prices, housing prices and expectations, and actively
guarded against potential risks, which resulted in a generally stable
real estate market. According to the statistics published by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2021, the floor space of commodity
housing sold in China increased by 1.9% year-on-year to 1,790 million m?
and the sales amount increased by 4.8% year-on-year to RMB18.2 trillion.
Real estate investment in China reached RMB14.8 trillion, representing a
year-on-year increase of 4.4%. Among which, the floor space of houses
newly started construction decreased by 11.4% year-on-year to 1,990
million m? while the floor space of houses completed increased by 11.2%
year-on-year to 1,010 million m?. As of the end of 2021, the floor space
under construction by the real estate developers nationwide reached
9,750 million m?, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.2%.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



FREHS
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

R B AT AR AR RS IR T SRR 0 IR EEE )
& P o IRER P B B AR B2 52 BR AR RV BL
B T2 —4 2EEHHA LSS MIEEE /N
&5.568 1 > HBER5EM T5.3BENEFEER
Jﬂ:9|‘ R B R HE S FT B I SR 1D B 5% 0 B RAE
EREER ANBFRBRRART  IIIRELE
WAHRSER; ﬁﬁ?&@]ﬁ?ﬁﬂk&ﬁ@é’*% )
REBAERSEERIEKT 2 "6
A > R Bl E#5 P 2 fh (R HiF 2022 F 2 HE #E
ERNRESETENER) RHEREMHM
EESAEW}Eﬁﬁ e B HEE R E

BRI EFRAR S BAAORREBAN
(ﬁﬂ) BIECE HERNMKITIRERNE

AABHENEEEERA LR - REHEE
%’(%uﬂ%@'fﬁﬁ’]@? IR —FR O HEE
FEAOMIBIEERR64.72%  tEZE " FRIE
=0.83E E D&

7%

25 REVYEHERATHAMIEK
B 2EKEESRLE TMEL2%ZEL23.6/=
Mg o iRIEFE AR NA > FR EBR
Ef-@2 -Em Em - EMEUFAENKE
EE0NAL7EME 1. 180 1.0EME
1,9408ME~ 1.1{8ME ~ 9,330 MA 55,5408
Mg BB DR 5-2.1%-6.5%4.1%
5.6%~-12.8%~-13.4%%1.8% °

FM RBPEACE S B > 2 EIRIE241%
PR EEAR > B HIB NP EF ESEA3,6008
Mo Hi  MAEBETEELS R ERMIE
R E AR BN PAEL SE ESEAI100B IR ;
[ PO IR 3R B AR - RN PR EBERY
4708 W o

The Chinese government actively implemented urban renewal and
accelerated the renovation of old communities. According to the statistics
published by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of China, in 2021, 55,600 old communities nationwide newly started
renovations, which had exceeded the annual target of 53,000. In addition,
the Chinese government promoted new-type urbanization, required
the integration of people from rural areas into cities in an orderly and
effective manner, and accelerated the integrated urban-rural development.
At the same time, the government promoted the green development
of urban-rural construction and improved the systematization level of
urban-rural infrastructure. In February 2022, the State Council of China
issued the “Opinions on Comprehensively Promoting the Key Work
of Rural Revitalization in 2022”, which proposed to solidly launch the
construction of rural infrastructure in key areas, promote the access of
third-level and above highways to towns and the access of hard roads
to natural villages (groups) with larger populations in an orderly manner,
promote the construction and upgrade of rural water supply projects, and
comprehensively implement consolidation and upgrade projects for rural
power grids. According to the statistics published by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, as of the end of 2021, China’s urbanization rate
of permanent residence was 64.72%, representing an increase of 0.83
percentage points over the end of 2020.

THE INDUSTRY

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2021, the total cement production in China amounted to
approximately 2,360.0 million tons, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 1.2%. According to the statistics of the China Cement Association,
during the year, cement production in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian,
Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi were approximately 170.0
million tons, 110.0 million tons, 100.0 million tons, 19.4 million tons,
110.0 million tons, 93.3 million tons and 55.4 million tons respectively,
representing year-on-year changes of approximately —2.1%, -6.5%, 4.1%,
5.6%, -12.8%, -13.4% and 1.8% respectively.

According to the statistics of the China Cement Association, in 2021,
there were 24 new clinker production lines nationwide with new annual
clinker production capacity of approximately 36.0 million tons in total.
Among which, in our major operating regions, there were 1 new clinker
production line in Guangdong with new annual clinker production capacity
of approximately 1.9 million tons and 3 new clinker production lines in
Guangxi with new annual clinker production capacity of approximately 4.7
million tons.
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Regarding policies for the industry, the Chinese government had issued a
series of policies and measures (note) to actively promote energy saving,
carbon emissions reduction and pollution reduction, improve and tighten
capacity replacement policies, promote regular off-peak production and
advance the rationalization of industrial structure so as to lay a foundation
for achieving the targets of carbon emissions peaking and carbon
neutrality, which will propel the comprehensive green transformation of
economic and social development. In addition, the Chinese government
attaches great importance to production safety and occupational health,
and fosters the high-quality and sustainable development of the building
materials industry.

note:

o The revised “Measures for Implementing Capacity Replacement in the Cement and
Glass Industries” was implemented with effect from August 2021.

° In September 2021, the National Development and Reform Commission of China
issued the "Proposal for Improving the Dual Control System of Energy Consumption
Intensity and Total Energy Consumption”.

° In October 2021, five ministries and commissions including the National
Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of China jointly issued the "Several Opinions on Strict Energy Efficiency
Constraints to Promote Energy Conservation and Carbon Emissions Reduction in Key
Areas’.

. In October 2021, the State Council of China issued the "Opinions on the Complete,
Accurate, Full and Thorough Implementation of the New Development Philosophy for
Carbon Emissions Peaking and Carbon Neutrality" and the "Action Plan for Peaking
Carbon Emissions before 2030".

o In December 2021, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry
of Science and Technology and the Ministry of Natural Resources of China jointly

issued the "‘Fourteenth Five-Year’ Development Plan for Raw Materials Industry".

o In December 2021, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China

e

issued the "Fourteenth Five-Year' Plan for Industrial Green Development”.

w

. In January 2022, the State Council of China issued the “Fourteenth Five-Year' Plan
for Comprehensive Work on Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction”.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Chinese government required active implementation of energy
saving and low-carbon actions, incorporation of carbon emissions
into environmental impact assessments, promotion of R&D of new
technologies for highly-effective, low-carbon and energy-saving cement.
The Chinese government also encouraged building materials enterprises
to use renewable energy and employ fly ash, industrial waste and tailings
as raw materials or cement admixtures. Certification and promotion for
application of green building materials were expedited. Execution plans
for carbon emissions peaking were formulated in key industries such as
petrochemical chemicals, steel, non-ferrous metals and building materials
to ensure that peaking would be achieved by 2030. Qualified industries
and enterprises are encouraged to peak in advance.

In terms of energy consumption, the Chinese government proposed to
optimize and improve the dual control policy for energy consumption,
deepen the right to use energy for a consideration and pilot trading,
strengthen the management of restrictive indicators for reduction of
energy consumption intensity, and effectively enhance the flexibility in
the management of total energy consumption. The Chinese government
carries out management on the “Fourteenth Five-Year” dual targets,
namely, a basic target and an incentive target, for reduction of energy
consumption intensity in each province (AR and municipality). For regions
where economic growth exceeds the expected target, the target for total
energy consumption may be adjusted accordingly. For regions where
the energy consumption intensity reaches the incentive target, their total
energy consumption shall be exempted from assessment during that
period. On the other hand, the Chinese government had set forth clear
standards of new energy consumption for the "two high" projects. For
the "two high" projects which fails to meet the requirements, admission
process such as review on energy saving and environmental impact
assessment shall be under strict scrutiny, and financial institutions shall
not be allowed to provide credit support.

The Chinese government aims by 2025 to reduce the national energy
consumption per unit of GDP by 13.5% compared to 2020, reduce the
energy consumption per unit of value addition of industrial enterprises of
certain scale by 13.5%, and reduce the energy consumption per unit of
clinker by 3.7%. For the eight key industries including steel, electrolytic
aluminum and cement, the proportion of production capacity and data
centers that reach the energy efficiency benchmark level shall exceed
30%. Among which, the benchmark level of unit product consolidated
energy consumption was set at 100 kg standard coal per ton of clinker
produced in the cement industry.
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In terms of green development, the Chinese government has thoroughly
fought well in the battles for prevention and treatment of pollution by
proposing to focus on prevention and treatment of air pollution in key
regions, the Pearl River Delta and the Chengdu-Chongging region,
promoting coordinated emission reduction of volatile organic compounds
and nitrogen oxides, and strengthening coordinated control of fine
particulate matters and ozone. In addition, the Chinese government
encourages the application of alternative energy in the cement industry,
promotes the co-processing of solid waste by use of steel kilns and
cement kilns, and steadily implements upgrade for ultra-low emissions in
industries such as cement and coking. The target is to achieve reduction
of both the pollutant emission intensity per unit of output and the total
volume in key industries by 2025.

In terms of industrial structure, the Chinese government required the
improvement and strict implementation of relevant policies on capacity
replacement in the cement industry, increased the capacity replacement
ratio of cement projects during the year, and required that production lines
of cement, clinker and flat glass which had suspended production for
two consecutive years or more cannot be used for capacity replacement.
In addition, the Chinese government required that newly constructed,
reconstruction and expansion projects must meet the advanced level in
standard for energy consumption limits and ultra-low pollutant emission
levels, and research and establish a restraint mechanism to curb the
expansion of excess capacity by means of carbon emissions, pollutant
emissions, and total energy consumption, and implement regular off-
peak production in the cement industry. During the "Fourteenth Five-Year"
period, it is targeted that the production capacities of bulk products of key
raw materials such as crude steel and cement will only decrease and shall
not increase, the capacity utilization rate will remain at a reasonable level,
and the industrial concentration in key scopes will be further increased.

The Chinese government attaches great importance to production safety
and occupational health. In June 2021, the Chinese government made
the third revision of the "Production Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China", which had come into effect since 1 September 2021. It clearly
required that production safety shall be people-oriented, emphasized that
safety management is necessary for managing the industries, businesses,
production and operation, required each unit to establish and implement
sound production safety accountability system for all employees,
strengthened the construction of production safety standardization, built
and implemented a dual prevention work mechanism for the classified
management and control of safety risks as well as the investigation and
management of latent hazards, and increased the punishments for illegal
acts.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of aggregates, in December 2021, the Chinese government
issued the "Construction Plan for ‘Zero-Waste Cities’ during the ‘Fourteenth
Five-Year' Period", which required the comprehensive advancement of
the construction of green mines and "zero-waste" mining areas, and the
promotion of environmentally-friendly underground filling and backfilling of
bulk industrial solid wastes such as tailings to reduce the storage capacity
of tailings ponds. It is encouraged to apply aggregates and products
recycled from construction waste in construction projects and road
projects.

In terms of prefabricated construction, promotion of green and low-carbon
transformation is required for urban and rural construction in China.
Green and low-carbon building materials and green building methods
are advanced to accelerate the industrialization of new-type construction
and vigorously develop prefabricated construction. In January 2022, the
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China issued the
"“Fourteenth Five-Year’ Development Plan for the Construction Industry",
which targeted to basically establish the policy system and industrial
system for the coordinated development of intelligent construction
and industrialization of new-type construction and to further improve
the working mechanism for construction waste reduction during
the "Fourteenth Five-Year" period. By 2025, the target proportion of
prefabricated buildings to newly constructed buildings shall exceed 30%
and the target on-site emissions of construction waste of newly started
construction shall not exceed 300 tons per 10,000 m?, among which, the
target emissions of prefabricated construction shall not exceed 200 tons.

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

1u

In response to the Group’s “Fourteenth Five-Year” strategic development
plan, during the year, the Group reorganized the business into four
business segments: basic building materials, structural building materials,
functional building materials and new materials. The basic building
materials business mainly includes cement and aggregates. The structural
building materials business mainly includes concrete and prefabricated
construction. The functional building materials business mainly includes
engineered stone, tile adhesive and white cement. The new materials
business currently mainly explores the development opportunities of new
materials such as calcium-based, silicon-based and basalt materials.
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In order to enhance management efficiency and effectively utilize
resources to expand the basic building materials business, the Group
consolidated its operating regions and divided them into the South China
Region, Southwest China Region, Southeast China Region and West China
Region. The South China Region primarily consists of Guangdong and
Hainan. The Southwest China Region primarily consists of Guangxi and
Guizhou. The Southeast China Region primarily consists of Fujian. The
West China Region primarily consists of Yunnan. In addition, through the
establishment of business divisions, the Group promoted the specialized
development of structural building materials business and functional
building materials business as well as the development of Hong Kong and
overseas businesses.

Regarding the cement business, in 2021, the Group started construction
of the second clinker production line and two cement grinding lines at the
cement production plant in Wuxuan, Guangxi, with total annual production
capacities of approximately 2.4 million tons of cement and approximately
1.4 million tons of clinker respectively, which will further consolidate
the Group’s regional market position. The Group actively grasped the
opportunities of regional development strategy in China and acquired 51%
equity interests of Hunan Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd. in January 2022 to
enter into the market in Chenzhou, Hunan. In addition, in March 2022,
the Group sold 72% equity interests and loans of Shanxi China Resources
Fulong Cement Limited to Tangshan Jidong Cement Co., Ltd., which had
enabled the exit of the northern market in an orderly manner.

During the year, the Group actively seized the development opportunities
of new businesses, accelerated the layout of aggregates, steadily promoted
the construction and market expansion of prefabricated construction
projects, and made new breakthroughs in the business fields of
engineered stone, tile adhesive and white cement, which had further
consolidated the Group'’s core competitiveness and laid a solid foundation
for the development of new businesses.

In terms of aggregates, during the year, the Group obtained control on
a total of 11 new mine resources in Deging of Guangdong, Wuxuan,
Nanning, Hengzhou and Shangsi of Guangxi, Nanping of Fujian,
Tunchang of Hainan, Qijiang of Chongging, and Luonan and Tongchuan
of Shaanxi through bidding, acquisitions and equity participation, which
had further enriched the Group’s reserves of aggregates resources. Upon
completion of all newly obtained projects, the annual production capacity
of aggregates controlled by the Group through its subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures is expected to exceed 100.0 million tons.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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With regards to prefabricated construction, during the year, the Group
acquired Ding'an Runfeng Intelligent Building Co., Ltd. (formerly known
as Dingan New Century Construction Industry Co., Ltd.) in August. The
company owns a prefabricated construction project in Ding'an, Hainan,
with design annual production capacity of precast concrete components
of approximately 300,000 m®. In September, Phase 1 production line
of precast concrete components of the Zhanjiang Runyang project in
Guangdong officially commenced production and Phase 1 production
line of precast concrete components of the Nanning Wuhe project in
Guangxi commenced trial production. In December, the Baise Runhe
project in Guangxi commenced construction. The project plans for initial
construction of a dry-mixed mortar production line with annual production
capacity of 300,000 tons, and further construction of production line
of precast concrete components according to market conditions. As
of the end of 2021, the Group had a total of 7 projects of precast
concrete components, with total design annual production capacities of
approximately 1.6 million m? after completion.

In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes green building
materials, encourages the development of new types of wall materials
such as autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete panels, and supports
energy saving and consumption reduction in the construction industry
and innovation in building methods. The Group actively seizes market
opportunities and fully utilizes our existing resources to develop new
products of the prefabricated construction business. We plan to build
four production lines for autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks
and panels in Fengkai, Guangdong. Two production lines will initially
be constructed in Phase 1. Each production line has design annual
production capacities of approximately 200,000 m? of panels and
approximately 100,000 m3 of blocks.
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In terms of functional building materials, in January 2021, through
Runfeng New Materials, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Universal Marble and its subsidiaries to become the
controlling shareholder of Universal Classical and jointly develop the
engineered stone business. As of the end of 2021, Universal Classical
owned one production line of inorganic engineered stones in operation in
Dongguan, Guangdong, and is undergoing expansion for one production
line of inorganic engineered stones. In addition, the Group is building
two production lines of inorganic engineered stones in Laibin, Guangxi.
The above projects under construction are expected to commence
operation in mid-2022, with total planned annual production capacities
of approximately 4.5 million m? Besides, in March 2022, the Group
acquired 75% equity interests of Guangdong Borrego New Material
Technology Co., Ltd. The company has four production lines of engineered
stones in operation in Lianzhou, Guangdong, with total planned annual
production capacities of approximately 6.0 million m?. In October 2021,
the Group officially commenced operation of two fully automated tile
adhesive production lines in Fengkai, Guangdong. In the same month, the
Group invested in a white cement manufacturer. The company owns one
production line for white cement in operation in Deqing, Guangdong.

The Group attaches great importance to corporate social responsibility
and actively responds to the energy saving and emission reduction
policies of the Chinese government. During the year, integrated with
its own actual circumstances and development strategy, the Group
formulated the “Strategic Plan for Control of Carbon Emissions”, which set
targets for carbon emissions peaking and carbon neutrality, formulated
corresponding measures and directions, and established a leading group
for carbon emissions management to coordinate the launch of control on
carbon emissions, which will be conducive to promoting the green, low-
carbon and sustainable corporate development.

In addition, during the year, the Group participated in a roundtable
meeting with leaders of large-scale cement enterprises in China organized
by industry associations, and worked together with leaders of 20 large-
scale cement enterprises nationwide to conduct in-depth analysis
and discussion on carbon emissions peaking and carbon neutrality,
development and application of digital and intelligent technology, and
industrial policies in order to promote the green, low-carbon and high-
quality development of the cement industry. At the same time, the Group
actively participated in carbon emissions peaking and carbon neutrality
symposiums and carbon trading market development forums organized
by industry associations to discuss the action plan and roadmap for
carbon emissions peaking of the cement industry.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In 2021, the Group’s unfailing efforts in sustainable development were
recognized by the industry and the society. These include:

° In June, the mine of China Resources Cement (Changjiang)
Limited was included in the register of provincial-level green mines
by the Department of Natural Resources and Planning of Hainan;

° In September, the national-level green factory and national-
level green mine of China Resources Cement (Heging) Limited
were honoured with the Certificate of Appreciation of the "United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals Achievement Awards
Hong Kong" by the Green Council of Hong Kong;

° In November, China Resources Cement (Pingnan) Limited was
included in the register of provincial-level green mines by the
Department of Natural Resources of Guangxi;

° In November, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was
honoured with the “Certificate of Excellence in Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting” in the “2021 Best Annual
Reports Awards” by the Hong Kong Management Association;

° In December, China Resources Cement (Longyan Yanshi) Limited
was honoured with the “Hong Kong Green Awards 2021 — Green
Management Award — Corporate (Large Corporation) — Bronze” by
the Green Council of Hong Kong;

?.:‘.__:;

MG DM GEEER ks fag1

Certificate of lward
i Rescurces Coment (Longyan Yanshi) Limitag

R KE (FeeER) BIRA G EES BFIRFIEETRER [EE#EL
EALZ202] | EHIRREIER — 10 % (KB EFE) — 7%

China

Resources Cement (Longyan Yanshi) Limited was honoured with

the “Hong Kong Green Awards 2021 — Green Management Award —
Corporate (Large Corporation) — Bronze” by the Green Council of Hong Kong
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. In December, China Resources Cement (Changzhi) Limited,
Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd., China
Resources Cement (Fuchuan) Limited, and China Resources
Cement (Jinsha) Limited were included in the register of Green
Manufacturing List in 2021 by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of China;

° In December, China Resources Cement (Jinsha) Limited was
honoured with the mark of "Guizhou Provincial-Level Water-Saving
Enterprise" by the Department of Water Resources of Guizhou;

° In December, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
was honoured with the "Leading Enterprise Award" (market
capitalization over HK$20 billion) and the "Leading Environmental
Initiative Awards" of the "ESG Leading Enterprise Award 2021" by
Bloomberg Businessweek.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

The Chinese government proposed that economic work in 2022 should
prioritize stability while pursuing progress. While insisting on the main
focus on deepening supply-side structural reform, it would accelerate the
construction of a new development paradigm, adhere to innovation-driven
development, promote high-quality development, strengthen and improve
macro-control, strengthen the cross-cycle regulation of macroeconomic
policies, and maintain the operation of the economy within a reasonable
range. According to the Report on the Work of the Government, the target
GDP growth in 2022 is approximately 5.5%.

Transportation is the key to a prosperous country and the foundation of
a strong country. The Chinese government has been accelerating the
construction of a world leader in transport. In January 2022, the State
Council of China issued the “Development Plan for Modernized and
Comprehensive Transport System during the ‘Fourteenth Five-Year™.
It aims for the operational lengths of national railways, highways and
urban rail transit to reach 165,000 km, 5.5 million km and 10,000 km
respectively by 2025, representing increases of 13.0%, 5.8% and 51.5%
respectively over the end of 2020, among which, the operational lengths of
high-speed rails and expressways will reach 50,000 km and 190,000 km
respectively, representing increases of 31.6% and 18.0% respectively over
the end of 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Chinese government persists in maintaining the position that
“residential properties are not for speculation”, strengthens the guidance
of expectations, explores new development models, insists on developing
both renting and purchasing, accelerates the development of the long-
term rental housing market, promotes the construction of affordable
housing, and supports the commodity housing market to better meet
the reasonable housing needs of property buyers, and implements city-
specific policies to promote a virtuous circle and healthy development of
the real estate industry.

In addition, the Chinese government comprehensively promotes
rural revitalization and enhances the quality of new-type urbanization
construction. During the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period, the Chinese
government will continue to promote the construction of rural highways
and secure various scopes including rural water supply and power supply.
It aims for achieving approximately 85% access of third-level and above
highways to towns and promoting the access of hard roads to natural
villages (groups) with larger populations. In addition, it is targeted by 2025
to strive for basically completing the mission of renovating old communities
in cities and towns built prior to the end of 2000 which require renovation,
which will support the demand for building materials products.

In terms of coordinated regional development strategy, the Chinese
government actively promotes the development of the western region,
advances the rise of the central region, and encourages the eastern region
to take the lead in development to accelerate the construction of a new
development paradigm with domestic circulation as the mainstay and
domestic and international circulations reinforcing each other.

The Chinese government continues to expedite infrastructure connectivity
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. According to
the Department of Transport of Guangdong, the total operational length
of railways in the Greater Bay Area exceeded 2,300 km as of the end of
2021. According to the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
(Inter-city) Railway Link Development Plan” approved by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China, the total operational
length of the railway network in operation and under construction in the
Greater Bay Area is targeted to reach 4,700 km by 2025 and 5,700 km by
2035, covering 100% of cities above county level.

B —FEFER
Annual Report 2021 31



ERwS
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

BIE(BEREGERBERER +TUREE
HED R (EREGEUBIEMRIME)
M+ FH ) HAR BRI EH AR
MEBEAREREBEAKRENARB2EBET &
+=F B EBIEN440% BREI =
TCRF BERER - ARKBTHERE
BiEE BF21E6,5000 £~ 2258 A B K&1,700
NE> DRHRZZZETHFIEN33.0%2.3%
73.6% > Eqﬂmﬁz&mﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁm\%uu 600
NE~12,5002 8 AR ZE T FIEM
74.3%~19.2%; 2| ”E=HF> )E%ia% »
BIEEERDNIIBAE 24588
Hg# 2R AKERDH|E4800QE
158 AE-

S EBRIITHREBNFR — S - —F+A
MO EERRR) > RUBR LN
=B GURIIEREERE BRREEHE
FIABSE,EUMNIBE AR R AL IRERE) RYZ= R4S
> 038R B my th O B R ik 4R > SRE R B 3 9E
RNEBEESE NI - RE_Z " —FNA
HEN(ESBRRAESIFRERMBELE)
oP B UM R & S TR BN =t R

EXRERRMERER BREEHMEE

BEFREERERNESEE B
ﬂzﬂqkﬁﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ 53K

=]
oo

ERNCEIZERAR AT

32

ne

According to the "‘Fourteenth Five-Year’ Development Plan for
Comprehensive Transportation System of Guangdong Province" and
the "Outline Plan for Comprehensive Three-Dimensional Transportation
Network of Guangdong Province", during the "Fourteenth Five-Year"
period, the Guangdong government will arrange investments of major
construction projects for transportation infrastructure in the total amount of
approximately RMB2.0 trillion, representing an increase of approximately
40% over the investment amount during the “Thirteenth Five-Year”
period. It is targeted that, by 2025, the total operational lengths of railways,
highways and urban rail transits in Guangdong will reach 6,500 km,
225,000 km and 1,700 km, representing increases of 33.0%, 2.3% and
73.6% over 2020 respectively, among which, the lengths of high-speed
rails and expressways will reach 3,600 km and 12,500 km respectively,
representing increases of 74.3% and 19.2% over 2020 respectively. By
2035, the total operational lengths of railways and highways in Guangdong
will be approximately 11,000 km and 245,000 km respectively, among
which, the lengths of high-speed rails and expressways will reach 4,800
km and 15,000 km respectively.

In addition, in October 2021, the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government released the "Northern Metropolis Development
Strategy", which proposed to build a spatial framework of "Twin Cities and
Three Circles" (namely, the Shenzhen Bay Quality Development Circle,
the Hong Kong-Shenzhen Close Interaction Circle and the Mirs Bay/Yan
Chau Tong Eco-recreation/tourism Circle) to strengthen the infrastructure
connectivity between Shenzhen and Hong Kong, and reinforce the
function of Shenzhen and Hong Kong as the “dual engine” of the Greater
Bay Area. According to the "Master Plan of the Development of the
Guangdong-Macao Intensive Cooperation Zone in Henggin" issued in
September 2021, the Chinese government will advance the construction
of transportation infrastructure projects such as urban rail transits,
high-speed rails and inter-city railways in the region to achieve mutual
connectivity.

The gradual advancement of regional development and construction such
as the Greater Bay Area will drive the regional demand for the building
materials industry in the medium to long term.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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During the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period, in order to achieve the goal of
“Building Another China Resources Cement”, the Group will grasp the
new development stage, thoroughly implement the new development
philosophy and build a new development paradigm. We will continue to
reinforce the three core strengths of “leading market position in the region,
innovation-driven development, lowest total costs”. We will strengthen,
optimize and expand the basic building materials and functional building
materials businesses, steadily develop the structural building materials
business, and incubate and cultivate the new materials business. The
Group will continue to optimize the industrial chain layout, expand
strategic regions, benchmark against international first-class standards,
accelerate digital and intelligent transformation, and increase investment
in innovation, research and development to inject lasting momentum into
the high-quality corporate development. We will continuously improve
operational efficiency and quality, enhance management standards of
environmental protection, safety and health, and actively promote carbon
emissions peaking and carbon neutrality. In order to consolidate market
competitiveness, we will deepen brand marketing and the construction of
sales channels. In addition, the Group will proactively seize the regional
development opportunities in China including the Greater Bay Area,
accelerate the pace of transformation and innovation, and fulfil corporate
social responsibility to advance the green and sustainable development of
the cement industry in China.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Directors, the
management team and all employees for their dedication and hard
work, which contributed to the high-quality development of the Group’s
business. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to express our gratitude
to shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and other
stakeholders for their persistent trust and unfailing support to the Group.

LI Fuli
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2022
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are the main and basic building materials for
infrastructure projects, property construction and rural development.
Cement consumption is highly correlated to economic development and
FAI. As cement and concrete are relatively heavyweight building materials,
the key to success of a producer’s business is highly dependent on its
core competitive advantage within the regional market. The performance
of the Group’s business operation is therefore subject to certain major
factors such as the business environment of the regions where the Group
has business operation, which significantly affects the selling prices of
the cement and concrete products. Besides, coal cost represents one
of the significant causes for volatility in the cost of cement production.
Accordingly, the substantial fluctuation of coal price poses one of the
principal potential risks and uncertainties affecting the performance of
the Group and the cement industry at large. As the Chinese government
continuously poses stricter requirements for energy saving and carbon
emissions reduction, dual control of energy consumption, production
safety and occupational health, the Group’s competitiveness in these
aspects is the key to its sustainable development.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Changes to Production Plants

In January 2022, the Group acquired 51% equity interests of Hunan
Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd. The company has annual production
capacities of approximately 1.6 million tons of clinker and approximately
2.0 million tons of cement in Chenzhou, Hunan. Currently, technological
upgrade of production lines is being rolled out. Upon completion of the
upgrade, the annual production capacity of clinker will remain unchanged,
while the annual production capacity of cement will be approximately 2.1
million tons.

In March 2022, the Group sold 72% equity interests and loans of Shanxi
China Resources Fulong Cement Limited to Tangshan Jidong Cement Co.,
Ltd. through tendering for a total consideration (excluding interests) of
RMB1,607,251,200 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,965,813,000).

During 2021, the Group completed the construction of two concrete
batching plants, leased one concrete batching plant from a third party
and shut down one concrete batching plant. The total annual production
capacity of concrete increased by approximately 1.3 million m® compared
to the end of 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Capacity Utilization

The utilization rates of the Group’s cement, clinker and concrete
production lines in 2021 were 93.6%, 100.6% and 40.9% as compared
with 101.1%, 112.6% and 37.5% respectively for 2020.

COST MANAGEMENT

Operational Management

In 2021, in response to the national "dual carbon" targets and the "dual
control" energy consumption policy, the Group earnestly and thoroughly
implemented the management theme of "seeking development,
enhancing quality, and transforming innovation", and actively promoted
the technological upgrade and low-carbon transformation of production
lines, strengthened the application of equipment for energy saving and
consumption reduction, promoted the digital and intelligent transformation
of production plants, continued to promote excellent operational
management, and maintained high-quality operational management
under these new circumstances.

In terms of green and low-carbon technologies, the Group has gradually
achieved green and low-carbon transformation by implementing a series
of technological iterations in energy saving and consumption reduction to
improve production efficiency and reduce energy consumption. During the
year, the Group continued to advance the optimization of highly effective
pre-heater and precalciner systems and the upgrade and overhaul of the
fourth-generation grate coolers, and actively promoted the application
of energy-saving fire-resistant materials with low thermal conductivity,
technology for energy-saving burner, new-type energy-saving thermal
insulation materials, grinding aids of raw materials and coal-saving
additives in order to raise the production efficiency and to reduce power
consumption, coal consumption and pollutant emissions.

In addition, the Group also strengthened the application of new technology
and new equipment. During the year, the Group focused on completing
the promotion and application of technology for 17 large-scale highly-
effective fans and advanced the promotion and application of 31 highly-
effective energy-saving air compressors and 28 highly-effective energy-
saving air blowers, which had significantly reduced power consumption
and saved electricity costs.
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Procurement Management

In 2021, the overall supply of the coal market remained tight. During the
year, the Group purchased a total of approximately 9.5 million tons of coal
(approximately 10.2 million tons in 2020), among which, approximately
80%, 19% and 1% were sourced from northern China, neighbouring
areas of our production plants and overseas respectively (76%, 23% and
1% in 2020). The proportion of direct procurement from coal producers
was approximately 82% (79% in 2020).

In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen the strategic
cooperation with large-scale domestic coal suppliers, expand new
procurement channels, introduce strategic suppliers, and continue to pay
attention to the national policy on coal import to establish procurement
channels for coal imports in a timely manner. In addition, the Group will
also analyze and identify market trends through multiple channels and
dynamically manage inventory to widen our advantages of procurement
cost.

Logistics Management

In 2021, affected by factors such as the unstable state of the Epidemic,
load limits along the Xijiang River during the dry season, standardization
of truck loads and higher oil prices, the overall logistics cost showed an
upward trend. During the year, based on the local market characteristics
and transportation methods, the Group adopted a series of measures to
reduce logistics costs. In terms of shipping, the Group actively launched
unified tendering for shipping along the Xijiang River to match the
carrying capacity of different ship types and transportation needs to
raise transportation efficiency. In terms of truck transportation, the Group
promoted joint bidding for return logistics routes, expanded transportation
resources outside provinces, compared prices through multiple channels,
and adjusted freight costs in a timely manner according to changes in oil
prices.

In 2021, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the Xijiang River
was approximately 36.9 million tons, which secured stable and continuous
logistics capabilities for the Group’s business operation. The Group
continuously optimized the layout of its silo terminals and cooperation
methods to build compliant and environmentally friendly silo terminals.
During the year, the Group controlled the operations of 35 silo terminals
with total annual capacity of approximately 28.3 million tons, which
are mainly located in the Pearl River Delta Region of Guangdong. This
consolidates the Group's leading market position in Southern China.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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SALES AND MARKETING

Product Promotion

In 2021, the Group continued to intensify the marketing promotion of
products such as “Wang Pai Gong Jiang” renovation cement, cement
for nuclear power stations and Portland cement for roads. Among which,
the Group supplied cement for nuclear power stations to 5 nuclear power
projects in Zhejiang, Fujian and Guangdong. Our brand awareness has
been relatively strong in the field of nuclear power. In addition, the Group
initiated academia-enterprise collaboration with Fuzhou University, China
in Fujian to jointly advance the "Project for World Leader in Transport"
to research and promote Portland cement for roads with strong crack
resistance and good wear resistance for production of cement products
which are more suitable for airport runway projects.

Brand Building

In order to further consolidate the quality positioning of the Runfeng
brand, during the year, the Group launched seminars on the quality of
products and services, and conducted field research to facilitate the
improvement on the quality of products and services from the market
side. On 28 June, the Group held the fifth anniversary celebration for the
Runfeng brand with the theme of “Set Sail, Set Off Again” and released an
entirely new promotional video of the brand image, which was broadcast
on platforms such as social media and industry media. In December,
by taking the Portland cement for roads and cement for nuclear power
stations as the main focuses for promotion, the Group launched a series
of promotions of special cement on media platforms to spread the brand
concept of our commitment to providing customers with high-quality
products and services. In addition, the Group continued to deepen brand
building for end users by opening two brand flagship stores in Yunnan and
Guangdong in October and December respectively. Currently, there are
three brand flagship stores in total.

In terms of new brands and new products, during the year, the Group
specified “Runpin” as the unified product brand for functional building
materials, completed brand image development, established visual image
system, and formulated product application standards. Among which,
during the year, the Group’s “Runpin” tile adhesive was officially launched
to the market. Currently, tile adhesive has been sold to dealers and
distribution stores in Guangdong and Guangxi markets, and supplied to

large-scale engineering projects such as hospitals and shopping malls.
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The Group deepened brand building for end users by opening the Runfeng Cement brand
flagship stores in Yunnan

B ag ) Z B s FHEEAR RS

The launch ceremony of “Runpin” tile adhesive and customer exchange meeting

3 8 ERORERBRAR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



EEE RO
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WA R
BH

TECFUR AEREERBEREES
FHELER FA > SEEBBHRA B
BREHEEREE EARE -ME K
M LB BRET OBREE EBERIUK
BREERRE 87 | 241 LR LI E R -

BE_T_—FK KIENKEEL  =E£EE
BB ABDEEBERFELALL 0608 ME
BBUNERNBERTREREEANE
LB R FEEAEALOSEME o I EFEVS A B R
HE EHERE ~EBBBNBAREE
BB K ERETREHR EZS, 4908 M > BB E
REKREERBDREEDZENEEBEE
FEREAV1 64088 W o

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

Aggregates

Since 2021, the Group has continued to actively strive for high-quality
aggregates mine resources. During the year, the Group obtained control
on a total of 11 new mine resources in Deging of Guangdong, Wuxuan,
Nanning, Hengzhou and Shangsi of Guangxi, Nanping of Fujian,
Tunchang of Hainan, Qijiang of Chongging and Luonan and Tongchuan of
Shaanxi through bidding, acquisitions and equity participation.

As of the end of 2021, based on its own existing cement mines, the
Group's annual production capacity of aggregates through its subsidiaries
was approximately 10.6 million tons, and the annual production capacity
of aggregates attributable to the Group according to our equity interests
of the associate located in Yunnan was approximately 1.95 million tons.
In addition to the newly obtained aggregates projects, upon completion of
construction of all projects, the annual production capacity of aggregates
controlled by the Group through its subsidiaries is expected to reach 84.9
million tons and the annual production capacity of aggregates attributable
to the Group according to our equity interests of associates and joint
ventures will reach approximately 16.4 million tons.
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TFAMEEEEIEEERER Relevant information of the newly obtained aggregates projects is outlined
below:
I MR RBIFER BiRftE FRERIG R
(15g) (1)
Planned annual Resource Expected date to
Project location production capacity reserve commence operation
(tons) (tons)

BIBME AT ZZAESE Production capacity controlled through subsidiaries

& Guangdong

1B Fengkai 30,000,000 425,000,000 TETTF
2022

&7 Guangxi

8 Shangsi 5,000,000 65,000,000 TETTE
2022

% Tianyang 5,000,000 61,000,000 TETTFE
2022

EHE Wuxuan 6,500,000 208,000,000 TBI=F
2023

A E Nanning 9,800,000 153,800,000 “ECCHE
2023

BT Shangsi Pingguang 2,000,000 42,000,000 ZET=F
2023

& Fujian

T Wuping 2,000,000 56,000,000 2T TF
2022

8/ Hainan

% Dingan 3,000,000 63,000,000 BICF
2022

E7 Yunnan

FELL| Weishan 3,000,000 100,000,000 TET=F
2023

Bk Shaanxi

&R Luonan 3,000,000 122,000,000 TET-F
2023

$8J11 Tongchuan 5,000,000 147,000,000 TET=F
2023

4 O EHICRIERBRAE]
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BE{= i iRz L REBIFER FEAE A E BRftE FRHRIG R
(W3) (1) (1)

Planned annual Attributable annual Resource Expected date to

Project location Shareholding production capacity production capacity reserve commence operation
(tons) (tons) (tons)

BBME AT RAE AT EIEMESE Production capacity controlled through associates and joint ventures

& Guangdong

®E Deging 56% 6,500,000 3,640,000 169,000,000 TET=F
2023

&7 Guangxi

&M Hengzhou 50% 10,000,000 5,000,000 180,000,000 TET=F
2023

B Fujian

7 Nanping 49% 1,500,000 735,000 13,250,000 TEBITFE
2022

8/ Hainan

8 Tunchang 34% 6,000,000 2,040,000 120,000,000 TR ME
2024

E Chongging

E51%12 Qjjiang Anwen 50% 3,000,000 1,500,000 70,300,000 TET=F
2023

25T/ Qjiang Shihao 50% 3,000,000 1,500,000 20,700,000 TET-F
2023

HERENEE Prefabricated Construction

AEBRBERNEETERERTIHE>  The Group promoted the prefabricated construction business in an orderly
BREEREIIRRER- manner according to the industry policies and market conditions of
prefabricated construction.
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In terms of the precast concrete component business, in August 2021,
the Group acquired Ding’an Runfeng Intelligent Building Co., Ltd
(formerly known as Dingan New Century Construction Industry Co., Ltd.)
through bidding for a consideration of RMB192,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$232,093,000). The company owns a prefabricated
construction project in Ding'an, Hainan, covering an area of approximately
153,000 m? and with design annual production capacity of precast
concrete components of approximately 300,000 m3. In September,
Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components of the Zhanjiang
Runyang project in Guangdong officially commenced production and
Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components of the Nanning
Wuhe project in Guangxi commenced trial production. In December, the
Baise Runhe project in Guangxi commenced construction. The project
plans for initial construction of a dry-mixed mortar production line with
annual production capacity of 300,000 tons, and further construction
of production line of precast concrete components according to market
conditions. In addition, the Guigang Runhe project in Guangxi has
completed the overall equipment construction of the production line
during the trial production process.

As of the end of 2021, the Group had a total of 7 projects of precast
concrete components. Following the completion of construction, the
design annual production capacity of precast concrete components is
expected to reach approximately 1.6 million m3.

REFNR —E-—F )\ AIKBELHESZZRZERLE]
The Group acquired Ding'an Runfeng Intelligent Building Co., Ltd. in August 2021
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UTAERTTENEHEBEREBER Relevant information of the precast concrete components projects is
outlined below:

H BUEE  RHEEE  HE IR
®EK) WER

Design annual

Area of production

Project land capacity Status Particulars
(m?) (m?)

E& Guangdong
REHRE ) 33,000 40,000 A=l o ERIZHERIKE BNREECERBLEESER.
Dongguan Runyang In operation e Products are mainly supplied to public housing and commodity housing
(note) projects in Shenzhen, Zhuhai and Guangzhou.
ELER 210,000 400,000 EgH o —RBIBMEHEER GREFER000001AK) RIT
Zhanjiang Runyang In operation T—FhAEREE

e Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components (design annual
production capacity of 200,000 m?) officially commenced operation in
September 2021.

IPEE 45,500 50,000 e o RELHEMIL (FERES00,000I 5K BT ; RALBREMNE
Jiangmen Runfeng Under EREPR S _E T ERE.
construction o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 900,000 m?) is
under construction; production line of precast concrete components is
expected to commence operation in the second half of 2022.
&S Guangxi
BERR 167,000 400,000 HEE o RERLEMIE (FERE60000 5K RIE-AETZBRE;
Nanning Wuhe In trial production —ER T BREGEER GRETFEE20000035K) RE
—_—ENARBEREE.

o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
commenced operation in December 2019; Phase 1 production line of
precast concrete components (design annual production capacity of
200,000 m?) commenced trial production in September 2021.

BEES 130,000 200,000 HEE o RELERMIE (FEEE0000I 5K ERZE—NE+—F#&
Guigang Runhe In trial production B, BRI ARt ERN S22 ARREEE.

*  Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
had commenced operation in November 2019; production line of
precast concrete components commenced trial production in June
2020.

BEEA 120,000 200,000 B o HRIMEEER (FE300,000) FEERT BN S —&

Baise Runhe Under RAIRE ; BB T RN EEGSREMBERIEERR T fFo

construction e Dry-mixed mortar production line (annual production capacity of

300,000 tons) is under construction and is expected to commence
operation by the end of 2022; production line of precast concrete
components will be constructed according to market conditions.

8/ Hainan

TLHE 153,000 300,000 HEE o BERIE_—FHNBRGHEEEC

Ding'an Runfeng In trial production e Trial production had commenced in April 2021.

2 FEBPBEZBMELDREDHBHMAEEIEER ot The Group holds 49% equity interests of the associate DongGuan RunYang United
NEAI% R I T o Intelligent Manufacturing Company Limited.

—E_—FFR
Annual Report 2021 43



BEE RO
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

St > PR RIEHE Ear B2 B E R
EEMRER ISR SIFFREXH
FEREFEMIBIE 7 TR - AR ERIBIBIE T 5
BB TOMBAREER MEEEINERE
BT E M 0 T8I E E R I R R R IR B
FORRIWIRRM EER  BIREEGRMR
ST EREXI208 175 K > )RR st FEFEAV10

BUBKHA—BERRERRWIELE
BSER ST _F LY EMTRS
SECSEREEHEE.

ThaE R

TECFAEERUERMEXE B8
RELENERN  RABM BNKE-EHE
BERES > WU ENE QB FRIITEEHM
HRXBRABERRE R EHTA

“EC—F—-R AEEWIER IR KA E
BB RA B 4958.8% M 15 » A £ E ¥
RN HAFF IR L AR S E4975.3% © IRIKAL
HIBEMSBREANARG HoMAN4
EAEBEANGRNELML EREEER
SN FBRRAAREEME - EmEMEN
EXMERER LX&%TH%?(’*”’A#EL?@
(ﬁDi’fﬂﬁ BR-EZPOF WBFEUF

T ZIS%IM%%}\LE%M?%’EEPI
LM R ERstse S ERMNAMRABRERN THHE
HERMELDERS (SER ) BEMEN
SR AL QL ERBERM) RER
R T2 MIslsE o

ERNCEIZERAR AT

44

In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes green building
materials, encourages the development of new types of wall materials
such as autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete panels, and supports
energy saving and consumption reduction in the construction industry
and innovation in building methods. The Group actively seizes market
opportunities and fully utilizes our existing resources to develop new
products of the prefabricated construction business. We plan to build
four production lines for autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks
and panels in Fengkai, Guangdong. Each production line has design
annual production capacities of approximately 200,000 m? of panels and
approximately 100,000 m® of blocks. Two production lines will initially be
constructed in Phase 1 of the Fengkai project. It is planned to commence
construction in the first half of 2022, and trial production is expected to
commence in the first half of 2023.

Functional Building Materials

In 2021, the Group established the Functional Building Materials Business
Division, responsible for coordinating the promotion of businesses such
as engineered stone, natural stone, white cement and tile adhesive. Its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology
Co., Ltd., serves as the platform for investment, R&D and marketing.

In January 2021, the Group acquired approximately 58.8% equity
interests of DongGuan Universal Classical Material Ltd., which increased
our shareholding of Universal Classical to approximately 75.3%. The
main products of Universal Classical are inorganic granite and quartz,
and its brand recognition has a leading position in the domestic market.
The products are primarily for domestic and international markets.
Its major customers are large real estate, commercial and industrial
developers as well as government units in charge of large-scale national
public buildings (including subways, schools, and conference centres).
In 2021, the Group's inorganic engineered stone products obtained the
"China Green Building Materials Product Certification (Three-Star)" issued
by the China Building Material Test & Certification Group Co., Ltd., and
the independently developed "Key Technology for Production of High-
Performance Inorganic Engineered Stone" was awarded the certification of
new technology for construction engineering in Shenzhen Municipality.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Universal Classical owned one production line of inorganic engineered
stones with planned annual production capacity of approximately 600,000
m? in Dongguan, Guangdong, and is expanding one production line of
inorganic engineered stones with planned annual production capacity
of approximately 1.5 million m?. In addition, the Group is building two
production lines of inorganic engineered stones in Laibin, Guangxi
with total planned annual production capacities of approximately 3.0
million m?. The above projects are expected to commence operation in
mid-2022. Besides, in March 2022, the Group acquired 75% equity
interests of Guangdong Borrego New Material Technology Co., Ltd. The
company has four production lines of engineered stones in operation in
Lianzhou, Guangdong, with total planned annual production capacities of
approximately 6.0 million m2.

In October 2021, the Group officially commenced operation of two fully-
automated tile adhesive production lines with total planned annual
production capacities of approximately 400,000 tons in Fengkai,
Guangdong. Tile adhesive is a new type of material for modern decoration.
It is mainly used in the fixing of decorative materials such as tiles, vitrified
bricks, marbles and engineered stones.

On the other hand, in October 2021, the Group invested in 70% equity
interests of Deqing Yinggi Building Materials Co., Ltd. The company owns
one production line for white cement in operation with annual production
capacity of approximately 400,000 tons in Deging, Guangdong. White
cement is one of the raw materials for inorganic engineered stone and
tile adhesive, which will form a synergistic effect with the Group's existing
functional building materials business.
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Digital Transformation

The Group continued to promote the construction of digitalization and
intelligentization. The Group incorporated Shenzhen Runfeng Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. to assist in achieving the goal of digital transformation
and enhancing our industry influence.

In terms of intelligent factories, the Group cooperated with Siemens Ltd.,
China in the intelligent manufacturing pilot project at the production plant
in Tianyang. On the one hand, we expanded the scope and application
of equipment for online monitoring and implemented intelligent video
projects. On the other hand, we implemented projects such as digital
mines and intelligent laboratories to enhance production and operation
efficiency and reduce equipment failure rates. In addition, the “lighthouse
factory” project under construction by the Group in Fengkai was officially
rolled out in mid-July, and has now entered the full implementation phase.
Centred on 7 application scenarios and 1 industrial Internet platform
of the whole-process intelligent manufacturing plan, we will improve
the intelligent construction and digital transformation and upgrade of
factory areas, enhance the efficiency of quality inspection and reduce
consumption of resources to promote green production.

In addition, the Group had launched the construction of intelligent
manufacturing centred on aspects such as EHS, operation, production,
equipment, quality, mines and logistics. During the year, we focused on
completing the digital mine projects in Tianyang, Pingnan and Fengkai
and the centralized procurement of intelligent laboratories in Tianyang
and Fengkai. After completion of construction of the digital mine project,
refined limestone blending and intelligent scheduling management for
production can be achieved, and the utilization rate of mine resources and
production efficiency would be enhanced.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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On the other hand, the Group actively promotes the application of 5G
technology and is carrying out the infrastructure construction of the
new-type network “5G+ industrial Internet”. A dedicated 5G network
encompassing 5 provinces including Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian,
Hainan and Guizhou will be constructed. Lightweight 5G modules will
be researched and developed based on cement technique to meet the
requirements for stability and security of networks for cement production
and to facilitate the construction of intelligent cement factories. Currently,
the dedicated 5G network at the production plant in Tianyang had
completed construction. At the same time, the Group is carrying out the
construction of the 5G+ industrial Internet platform. After completion
of construction, the platform will connect production lines, equipment,
vehicles and remote experts in real time to improve the efficiency and
quality of production and operation. Currently, the Group has completed
the construction of 10 applications in the 5 major scenarios of digital
mining areas, security monitoring, intelligent industrial zones, intelligent
production lines and data collection.

As of the end of 2021, the quality management system independently
researched and developed by the Group had commenced operation in 5
cement production plants at Pingnan, Shangsi and Guigang of Guangxi,
and Lianjiang and Fengkai of Guangdong, and was being promoted at
other cement production plants. Meanwhile, the Group had completed
the promotion of the kiln grinding expert system at 12 cement and clinker
production lines and the promotion of the online monitoring system for
key machineries and electrical equipment at 14 cement and clinker
production lines. The Group also built remote diagnosis platforms and
upgraded equipment management system, which had significantly
reduced the workload of operators and inspection personnel and ensured
the stable operation of production.

The Group had achieved 100% coverage of the platform for sharing
auxiliary materials and spare parts at its existing cement production plants
to facilitate the refined management of inventories. The “Smart Card”
system had 100% coverage at the existing cement production plants
and its pilot launch was also completed at 3 aggregates and concrete
production plants, which is conducive to improving the delivery efficiency
and the quality of pick-up services and reducing logistics costs.

In terms of smart marketing, in 2021, the digital transformation project
of China Resources Cement's marketing model has been fully launched
in Guangdong and Guangxi. The Group also rolled out the promotion
of e-commerce platform in other regions. As of the end of 2021, the
cumulative transaction volume of the platform reached approximately
32.6 million tons, with nearly 15,000 registered users and approximately
29,000 vehicles (vessels) settled.
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Research, Development and Innovation

Innovation is an important momentum to stimulate corporate vitality and
motivate long-term corporate development. The Group’s Technology
Research and Development Centre is a laboratory accredited by the China
National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment. As of the end
of 2021, the Centre had 73 specialized employees, including 10 doctors
and 36 masters. Among the research and development personnel, 3 were
professorate senior engineers.

In 2021, the Group’s Technology Research and Development Centre
provided 1,358 systematic tests for cement production plants and
provided optimization proposals. In terms of energy saving and
consumption reduction, the Technology Research and Development
Centre had mainly completed the development of technology roadmaps
for energy saving and consumption reduction for 9 production lines
including Fengkai of Guangdong, and Nanning, Guigang and Shangsi
of Guangxi. The upgrade for ultra-low emissions of nitrogen oxides at
Huizhou, Guangdong was completed. Independent development and
research of co-processing technology by use of rotary furnace was
launched at Hepu, Guangxi and Heging, Yunnan. The upgrade for
automation of grinding aid production lines and the optimization for
the prescriptions of functional grinding aid were completed, which had
been promoted for use at the cement production plants in Fengkai of
Guangdong, and Shangsi, Nanning, Hepu, Tianyang and Guigang of
Guangxi.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In addition, the Group’s Technology Research and Development Centre
provided support for the development of new businesses. In response to
the government’s “dual carbon” targets, it actively developed tile adhesive,
high-performance inorganic engineered stone products, low-clinker
cement and carbon-absorbing cementitious materials. Among which,
the Centre focused on overcoming various pain points and difficulties
of inorganic engineered stone products, resulting in better performance
compared to similar products in the market. The development of the
production prescription for tile adhesive had been completed and the
product had been launched to the market. Research had been launched
in the three directions of carbon emissions reduction, carbon capture and
carbon utilization. In addition, China Resources Cement Technology R & D
Co., Ltd., led by the Southeast University, China and together with 10 units
including Tongji University, China, successfully applied for the special
project of “Key Production Technology and Demonstration Application
of High-Performance Cementitious Materials with Low Environmental
Burden” under the national key R&D plan of “High-End Functional and
Intelligent Materials”. They had also undertaken the project topic of “Full-
Lifecycle Ecological Design Theory and Whole-Process Multi-Dimensional
Monitoring, Evaluation, Management and Control System Cementitious
Materials with Low Environmental Burden”.

In order to encourage and support all-staff innovation, comprehensively
enhance the quality and standard of technological innovation work and
accelerate the transformation of technological innovation achievements,
in 2021, the Group completed the preparation of the “Fourteenth Five-
Year” Technological Innovation Plan, further improved the cultivation
plan for technological innovative talents and proposals for promoting
technological innovation projects, organized innovation competitions and
innovation conferences, expedited the advancement of technological
innovation in the scopes of technology, management and business
models, and fostered the extensive application of technological innovation
achievements at each production plant.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The functional currency of the Group is RMB while the financial figures
are all denominated in HK$. Comparing with 2020, RMB had appreciated
against HK$ by approximately 7.1%.

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$43,962.7 million, representing an increase of 9.7% from
HK$40,086.9 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental turnover by
product is as follows:
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(4.3 million tons in 2020).

In 2021, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
decreased by 5.9 million tons, decreased by 263,000 tons and increased
by 1.4 million m3, representing a decrease of 6.8%, a decrease of 7.4%
and an increase of 10.7% respectively over 2020. During the vyear,
approximately 82.9% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or
higher grades (81.0% in 2020) and approximately 28.9% were sold in
bags (33.2% in 2020). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete
production was 2.9 million tons (2.8 million tons in 2020), representing
3.5% of the total volume of cement sold (3.1% in 2020).

Segmental turnover by product

HK$ million
IR Cement 6,556
il Clinker 1,068

JEReL Concrete

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2021 were as follows:
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2021 were
HK$431.0 per ton, HK$326.0 per ton and HK$528.3 per m? respectively,
representing increases of 15.9%, 8.4% and 7.9% respectively from 2020.
The increases in average selling prices of cement and clinker primarily
reflected the tight supply within a short period due to the impact of policies
in the second half of the year and the increased coal price for the year.

Cement sales volume by geographical area

'000 tons
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Costs of Sales

The consolidated cost of sales of the Group (exclusive of cement sales
from related parties) comprised coal, electricity, materials and other
costs, which represented 31.9%, 10.1%, 35.0% and 23.0% of the cost
of sales respectively for the year (28.6%, 11.6%, 35.6% and 24.2% in
2020 respectively). As for cement products, coal, electricity, materials
and other costs represented 38.6%, 12.2%, 23.9% and 25.3% of their
costs respectively for the year (34.4%, 14.0%, 24.8% and 26.8% in 2020
respectively). Materials cost is the major component of the cost of sales of
concrete, representing 91.1% of the cost of sales of concrete for the year
(90.7% in 2020).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2021 was approximately
HK$989 per ton, representing an increase of 54.3% from the average
price of HK$641 per ton in 2020, while the average thermal value of coal
decreased by 0.7% to 5,309 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal
consumption increased to 141.4 kg per ton of clinker produced from the
average of 141.3 kg in 2020. Our standard coal consumption decreased
to 103.8 kg per ton of clinker for the year from the average of 104.4 kg in
2020. As a result of the increase in coal price, our average coal cost for
the year increased by 54.3% to HK$139.8 per ton of clinker produced
from HK$90.6 in 2020.

Our average electricity cost increased by 13.7% from HK$29.3 per ton
of cement to HK$33.3 for the year. During the year, we consumed for a
total of 3,854.5 million kwh of electricity (4,032.7 million kwh in 2020),
which accounted for 64.3% of the total electricity consumption for the
production of cement products (62.0% in 2020) under direct power
supply agreements and price bidding arrangements. Our electricity
consumption was 72.5 kwh per ton of cement for the year (72.2 kwh in
2020). Our residual heat recovery generators generated 1,883.8 million
kwh of electricity for the year, representing a decrease of 9.9% over
2,090.4 million kwh in 2020. The electricity generated in 2021 accounted
for approximately 31.4% of our required electricity consumption (32.2%
in 2020) and we achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$984.3
million for the year (HK$1,000.9 million in 2020).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, depreciation, and repairs
and maintenance cost. Repairs and maintenance cost included in the
cost of sales of cement products for the year was HK$1,476.6 million,
representing an increase of 35.2% from HK$1,092.0 million in 2020.

Cost structure of cement products

EMEATT HK$ per ton
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0, 0, 0,
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© EHE Materials
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The consolidated gross profit for 2021 was HK$14,122.8 million,
representing a decrease of 9.7% from HK$15,636.0 million for 2020 and
the consolidated gross margin was 32.1%, representing a decrease of 6.9
percentage points from 39.0% for 2020. The decreases in consolidated
gross profit and consolidated gross margin for the year were mainly
attributable to the increase in cost of production of our cement products.
The gross margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2021 were
34.6%, 23.9% and 22.1%, as compared with 41.9%, 39.8% and 24.3%
respectively for 2020.

Other Income

Other income for 2021 was HK$734.9 million, representing an increase of
0.6% from HK$730.6 million for 2020.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2021 were HK$2,064.2 million,
representing an increase of 14.9% from HK$1,796.1 million for 2020. As
a percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses for
the year increased to 4.7% from 4.5% for 2020.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2021 were HK$2,988.9 million,
representing a decrease of 6.4% from HK$3,193.4 million for 2020. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 6.8% for 2021 from 8.0% for 2020.

Exchange Gain

An exchange gain of HK$19.0 million was generated from non-RMB
denominated net borrowings of the Group due to the appreciation of RMB
against HK$ during the year (HK$103.6 million in 2020).

Share of Results of Associates

The associates of the Group contributed a profit of HK$371.5 million for
the year (HK$425.5 million in 2020) of which profits of HK$93.7 million,
HK$91.6 million, HK$165.4 million and HK$19.5 million (profits of
HK$23.3 million, HK$58.4 million, HK$336.6 million and HK$0.4 million
in 2020) were attributable to the Group's associates operating in Inner
Mongolia, Fujian, Yunnan and Guangdong respectively.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The joint ventures of the Group contributed a profit of HK$317.6 million
for the year (HK$270.9 million in 2020) mainly attributable to the Group’s
joint ventures operating in Guangdong.

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2021 was 24.9%, as compared
with 24.1% for 2020. Had the effect of the results of associates and joint
ventures, the exchange difference, as well as the withholding tax in the
Chinese Mainland for dividends and the deferred tax on the intended
distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding
company in Hong Kong been excluded, the effective tax rate of the Group
for 2021 would be 23.7% (27.3% in 2020).

Net Margin

Net margin of the Group for 2021 was 17.6%, which was 4.9 percentage
points lower than that of 22.5% for 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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MEBEEMMBEER LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

FEENESRKRETEAEEEES IRTE  The Group’s sources of funding mainly included cash on hand, bank
TOREBBANER ERMOEZEIE 2 loans, loans from related parties, unsecured medium-term notes, issue of
TRABHFREEEENIREM equity securities and cash flows generated from operations.

N_E-—F+"H=+—H &EEMIEE As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s cash and bank balances and

FIRITHE B UKD BERIRTEREEL TR pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:
Is

®+ZA=+—H
—EC—F T TE
T+ T
As at 31 December
2021 2020
'000 ‘000
BT HK$ 253,423 411,544
AR RMB 5,910,554 11,115,196
=7 Us$ 140 143

FEBR_ZE-_—FKR-ZE"ZF+_"H Bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and
=+—HMIRTREMESHEEIFE B4R 2020 were all unsecured, with breakdown as follows:
T

®W+—B=+—H
BT -F —TITF
FHT TAT

As at 31 December
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITEM Bank loans 8,559,287 3,300,000
FREAERER Medium-term notes = 3,564,480
FEEBHHER Loans from related parties 1,854,354 =
10,413,641 6,864,480
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W _E_—F+"_BA=+—HB AEBEL
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#6,113,600,0007 7t 5 4,300,000,0007% 7T
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3,564,500,0007% 7T 523,300,000,000% 7T) ° &%

As at 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of the Group which
carried interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to HK$6,113.6
million and HK$4,300.0 million respectively (HK$3,564.5 million and
HK$3,300.0 million respectively as at 31 December 2020). These
borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

HZEERUTEKIE:
W+=—B=+—H
—E—F 2T
¥ F
As at 31 December
2021 2020
'000 ‘000
BT HK$ 4,300,000 3,300,000
AR RMB 4,998,520 3,000,000

RZE-_—F+"_B=+—H ®EEHD
I IFIRIT EEEE A3,300,000,000% 75
B AR#19,350,000,00070 > Hth AR #E
15,050,000,0007C 4 AR B A It 75 BT (4R A o

RIZ2—RF > ARBEFERIRTETS
SR HER PRI TR %ETEL/\E%W%
9,000,000,0007c AR HA R #5 K AR ER B ad A
ES#54,500,000,0007c N fZ HARRE 5 o IR 2 &
—NEFENARH ARBETHETEERAR
#%3,000,000,0007T ~ ZEEAE A B F3.50% %
HRASLENEMPRRR ZERHZES
IR TER 2 —FNAPR2HE
Zo

R¥R G 5T4E5,746,200,000/8 T EELEENE
FRITERBEEHZE QBHAN 2 "F=
RAEZZ-"F+—RB) BER #H (BE)
BRBARAB R DRI %ERTRA-RES
%‘|‘L4 278,500,000 70 ¥ B & FARVE T IR1T

ERBEBBNRT RABNBEEX (b
HﬂaTA@%EBTL/(ZIK’AT%&E/\!‘ETME“.#%’
W] FLGRELUSHRE TIFATLEE) AT 8
B180% - M B _—F+-_HA=+—HKZ
TTRFE+TA=+—H  xEENG Ltk
BHIRIER
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s unsecured banking facilities
amounted to HK$3,300.0 million and RMB19,350.0 million, of which
RMB15,050.0 million was unutilized and remained available for
drawdown.

In 2016, the Company was granted an approval by the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of PRC for the
issuance of medium-term notes in an aggregate amount of not more than
RMB9.0 billion and commercial paper in an aggregate amount of not
more than RMB4.5 billion in China. On 5 September 2016, the Company
completed the issuance of the first tranche of the medium-term notes in
the amount of RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.50% per annum for
a term of five years. These medium-term notes were unsecured and had
been fully repaid in September 2021 upon expiry.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$5,746.2 million equivalent with expiry dates from March 2022
to November 2022, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than
35% of the issued share capital in the Company. Under the terms of
certain agreements for the total banking facilities of HK$4,278.5 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (calculated by dividing
net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, and as
may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed
180%. The Group was in compliance with the above financial covenants
as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group adopts robust and prudent treasury policies in financial
management. Treasury management, financing and investment activities
are all managed and monitored by the senior management of the
Company, and all treasury activities of the Group are centralized. The
Group regularly monitors its current and expected liquidity needs as
well as compliance with bank loan agreements in order to maintain its
sufficient cash reserves and flexibility in funding for meeting the Group's
short-term and long-term liquidity needs.

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group’s exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and debts which were denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances and
debts were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure
and will consider taking appropriate measures to control the risk arising
from significant exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging
significant currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest costs
be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses. The Group
was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2021, non-RMB denominated
debts accounted for 41% of the total debts of the Group (48% as at 31
December 2020).

The Group had net current liabilities of HK$4,489.8 million as at 31
December 2021. Taking into account the cash and bank balances, the
unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally generated
funds, the new banking facilities and other sources of financing to be
obtained, the Board is confident that the Group will be able to meet its
financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, there was no charge on assets by the Group
(Nil as at 31 December 2020).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB1,433.3 million
(RMB1,486.6 million as at 31 December 2020) granted to associates,
of which RMB1,316.5 million (RMB1,412.7 million as at 31 December
2020) had been utilized.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement dated
11 June 2018, the Company issued 450 million ordinary Shares at a price
of HK$9.30 per Share in cash to CRH (Cement) Limited, the Company’s
immediate holding company. The gross funds raised was HK$4,185.0
million and the net proceeds, after deducting all professional fees and
other out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately HK$4,180.3 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$9.29 per Share. The
closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2018 was
HK$10.32 per Share. Details of the placing and the top-up subscription
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 11 June 2018
and 25 June 2018.

In order to utilize the net proceeds in a more effective way and to
facilitate efficient allocation of the Company’s financial resources, on
22 October 2021, the Board resolved that HK$571.7 million out of the
remaining net proceeds initially used for development of prefabricated
construction business would be reallocated to developing of aggregates
business. According to the policies and market conditions of prefabricated
construction, the Group has promoted related businesses in an orderly
manner, and the amount intended to be utilized for the development of
prefabricated construction business is expected to be fully utilized by
2022.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



EEE RO
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREEMNBRESERNRERTRE  RE
BEEESTNHERREALAERTHHEEN
EEY MERBEAGRY LS FEBEREA
EERFEFREREER UEAEBUERN
mARBEMNANRREMBER UELars
B R R 1B R IR B TE £ 7514158 o AR5
BRAABBEA_E_—F+HB-+=H
HASERIEE-

FXRNA LERHHTEREAATNE
AR FEFENRRFBOT ;

In view of strengthening the efficiency and effectiveness of the capital use
of the Group, guaranteeing the flow of its own capital and enhancing the
flexibility in financial management of the Group, such change in the use of
net proceeds would better meet the current business development needs
of the Group, which also enables the Group to invest its financial sources
in a more beneficial and effective way so as to coordinate with the future
development of the Group and grasp potential business opportunities
in the future. Relevant details were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 October 2021.

The Board considers that the abovementioned issues of Shares has
strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details